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From:
Sent: Monday, 3 April 2023 11:35 AM
To:
Subject: RE: Document preparation for Monday - ROE etc [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: Questions that Defence undertook to conduct further work.pdf; Defence Opening 

Statement (Hearing on 3 April 2023).pdf; Defence Opening Statement (Hearing on 3 April 
2023).docx

OFFICIAL 

Hi
 
Attached are PDF copies of the opening statement and the additional responses document. 
 
The opening statement was in track changes so I accepted all. While noting that, it mentions both myself and

as if we are there, so I have attached the word version if you want to make changes. 
 
Thanks 
 

Research Officer 
Directorate of Honours and Awards 
People Services Division 
Department of Defence 
 

 Brindabella Park Offices | PO Box 7952 | Canberra BC | ACT 2610 
P:

 

 
 
 

 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and 
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error, 
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately. 
 
 

From:
Sent: Monday, 3 April 2023 11:12 AM 
To:
Subject: Fwd: Document preparation for Monday ‐ ROE etc [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 
Hi 
 
Please remove draft marking and pdf attached and send back to me.  
 
Please also send me electronic copy of opening statement. 
 

Director Honours and Awards 
Defence People Group 
  

s47E(d)

s47E(d)

s47E(d)

s47E(d)

s47E(d)

s47E(d)

s47E(d)

s47E(d)
s47E(d)

s47E(d)

s47E(d)

s47E(d)

s47E(d)

s47E(d)









2

 
 (she/her) 

 
Executive Officer 
to First Assistant Secretary People Services 
Defence People Group  
Department of Defence 

 Russell Offices | PO Box 7927 | Canberra BC | ACT 2610 
P:  M: 

 

 

 
 

 
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
Sent: Tuesday, 4 April 2023 12:19 PM
To:
Cc:
Subject: RE: Defence Opening Statement (Hearing on 3 April 2023).docx [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: Defence Opening Statement (Hearing on 3 April 2023).pdf

OFFICIAL 

I reworked the O’Haire paragraph. Let me know if any other changes are needed. 

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and 
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error, 
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately. 

From
Sent: Tuesday, 4 April 2023 11:12 AM 
To:
Cc:
Subject: Defence Opening Statement (Hearing on 3 April 2023).docx [SEC=OFFICIAL] 

OFFICIAL 

Can you pls check the statement – I’ve tried to add in Mark Holmes handwritten notes.  In particular, pls check the 
O’Haire para? 
Once fixed, can you please PDF and send to  will submit to

Cheer, 

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
Sent: Tuesday, 11 April 2023 10:12 AM
To:
Cc:
Subject: FW: Action Items Post RCB Hearings on 3-4 April 2023 [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: 120321 - MINSUB - Signed by PARLSEC - NOS classification of RCB as peacetime 

service.pdf; 190322 - MS19-000484 - Supplementary Advice to MC18-003435 - RCB  - 
Follow on from MINDP-VCDF Meeting on 05 Mar 19 - not 2016.pdf

OFFICIAL 

Hi
 
At the hearing, the Chair made comments about Defence commencing to use the term ‘substantially’ in briefing to 
government and letter to individuals. 
 

The question is, ‘do we know why (and when if before 2011) Defence started using ‘substantially more 
dangerous than normal peacetime service?’   
 

Director Honours and Awards 
Defence People Group  
 
BP33-1-054 | Brindabella Park ACT 
P: M:

 
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
Sent: Thursday, 6 April 2023 3:59 PM 
To:
Subject: Action Items Post RCB Hearings on 3‐4 April 2023 [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

 
The first attachment is Ministerial Advice MA11‐001151. This is the Secretary / CDF brief signed on 24 November 
2011. Paragraphs 7 and 9 use the phrase ‘substantially more dangerous’. 
 
The second attachment is Ministerial Submission MS19‐000484. It has numerous attachments including the letter to 

dated 4 December 2013, in which the same phrase is used. 
 
Regards 
 

Research Officer 
Directorate of Honours and Awards 
People Services Division 
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From:
Sent: Tuesday, 11 April 2023 2:39 PM
To:
Cc:
Subject: RE: Clarke review - Ministerial submissions [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: 020527 - Department of Defence Submission No. 2339 - Review of Veterans 

Entitlements.pdf

OFFICIAL 

Thanks
and I had a look, we found the Defence submission to Clarke during the process of the review (attached for 

your info/interest) but none beyond the COSC response they already have. 
I guess the point to remember is that this was a DVA Review and Defence just put in a submission during the process 
– and provided Defence response  to the Review via COSC/CDF after the Review Report was sent to the Min VA.

Regards 

Director 
Nature of Service 

Military Strategic Commitments Division 
Russell Offices 

PO Box 7902 
Canberra BC ACT 2610 

Phone:

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
Sent: Tuesday, 11 April 2023 2:18 PM 
To:
Subject: RE: Clarke review ‐ Ministerial submissions [SEC=OFFICIAL] 

OFFICIAL 

For your information, DH&A raised one file on the Clarke Review. I have reviewed that file and did not find any 
ministerial submissions. 

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
Sent: Tuesday, 11 April 2023 10:07 AM 
To:
Cc: 
Subject: FW: Clarke review ‐ Ministerial submissions [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

Hi
 
As discussed, RFI following latest Tribunal hearings. 
 
One further email to follow. 
 
 

Director Honours and Awards 
Defence People Group  
 

| Brindabella Park ACT 
P M:

 
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
Sent: Thursday, 6 April 2023 12:16 PM 
To:
Cc:
Subject: Clarke review ‐ Ministerial submissions [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

Hi 

Defence FOI 711/22/23 
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I’m sorry to add to the list of things to find, but the Chair has asked me to approach you for any ministerial 
submissions made by Defence in response to the Clarke Review. 
 
If these could be identified by the end of the April, or another date as otherwise agreed, we would be very grateful. 
 
You might note that I will be on leave next week, but will likely be available if you need anything. 
 
Regards 
 

 

Executive Officer 
Defence Honours and Awards Appeals Tribunal 

https://defence‐honours‐tribunal.gov.au 
 

 
 
 
 

 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and 
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error, 
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately. 
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One week on from the hearings, I provide an update and pose some questions on further work due to the 
Tribunal by 30 April 2023. Please advise if I have missed a topic. 
 
 

 Expectation of casualties – attached email from All, is it planned to seek permission to and 
then release a copy of LWP‐G 0‐5‐2 (Staff Officer's Aide Memoire of 2018)? What if anything should 
we say about SMTAs? (noting what we said recently – see below) 

 
Tribunal RFI following BRIG Murray award review hearing: 

 
(i) Do Military Threat Assessments (MTAs) provide an assessment of the level of danger and therefore the risk of 

harm to which ADF forces are exposed? If 
an MTA provides only a partial assessment of that risk, to what other factors or metrics does Defence have regard 

in that assessment? 
(ii) How does Defence form a view as to whether there is an ‘expectation of casualties’ as used in the definitions 

of “warlike” service? 
 

Defence/NOS response: 
 

In response the sub-question 1(b), the following information is provided: 
(i) A Strategic Military Threat Assessment (SMTA) provides an assessment of the threat (expressed in levels – 

Very Low to Very High), and is the main document 
used to determine the threats to ADF personnel and capabilities. 
On its own, the threat level assessed in an SMTA does not directly or automatically infer a specific NOS 

classification. There are ADF operations classified as 
non-warlike with the same threat level as warlike ADF operations. 
(ii) The expectation of casualties is assessed as part of the SMTA. 

 
 

 Response to additional questions ‐  Attached is what we provided at hearing. All, propose that we 
advise Defence has no further information  to provide in relation to the two remaining questions. 

 

 Substantially more dangerous – Attached email to seeks any information from NOS on reason 
for inclusion of term ‘substantially’. appreciate your advice when available. 

 

 Clarke review – Tribunal sent a request for any briefing to Minister on Clarke review. Attached 
email exchange between H&A and NOS email. Nothing further found – apart from Defence 
submission to review itself. All, propose we advise we have nothing further to provide and 
potentially suggest they may wish to engage with DVA.  

 

 Status of Forces Agreement – Paul suggested he wanted to provide a copy. can 
you please provide? 
 

 Information from veterans shared by Tribunal post hearing – objective link attached. All, suggest 
we just note.   

 

 ADF medals policy – All, do we want to provide anything further on what we say it means?  
 

 Definitions NOS vs medals – All, do we want to provide anything further? While acknowledging 
NOS/Veterans’ benefits/medals are all separate processes the Chair is sticking to his view that 1993 
definitions apply to medals.  
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Regards,  
 

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
Sent: Wednesday  12 April 2023 5:19 PM
To:
Cc:
Subject: RE: Action Items Post RCB Hearings on 3-4 April 2023 [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL 

Hi
We’ve searched through documents in Objective, including circa 2011/prior, and there is no discernible 
policy/legal/definition – type reason as to why someone used the term ‘substantially’ more dangerous than 
peacetime service. 
 
It appears to be a word a staff member/DG used in the first document you attached (2011/12) and then someone 
responding on similar subject reused the term in the 2013  letters attached to the 2019 Ministerial . The wording 
around the use of the word (substantially) looks similar as well. 
 
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
Sent: Tuesday, 11 April 2023 10:12 AM 
To:
Cc: 
Subject: FW: Action Items Post RCB Hearings on 3‐4 April 2023 [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

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

Morning everyone, 
 
Apologies – I forgot to add my general comments to email (which I’ve now placed in blue after Mark’s 
comments). 
 
Interestingly, I’ve been continuing my reading of the Trove articles from the 70s and 80s that reference RCB and 
noticed this quote in the Army News of 3 April 1975: 
 
… Streaming with sweat, Pte. Stephen Ingram, a 19-year-old soldier who has been with the Company for 14 months, 
paused, panting, to tell ARMY that this was his first time out of Australia. 
First time in Butterworth for him and, before flying in, he’d heard a lot of rumours about the base and about Penang – 
some good rumours, some bad. 
“Mostly I heard it was a pretty good place for a bludge,” he told ARMY. 
And here another young Digger, Pte. Phil Smailes, who had served here in September last year, intercepted and took 
up the ball. 
“Not a bludge,” he said. “When we were up here last year I did training I’d never done before. Fired every weapon 
there is to fire. 
“Good training up here and a feller sees a different country and different people. Found out how other people live.” 
 
Of course, references to training occur in various news reports in subsequent years, but I thought the above was 
interesting since it quoted soldiers directly. Clearly, at least one soldier (Pte. Smailes) considered the work conducted 
while in Malaysia as amounting to training. 
 
Regards, 

 
 

Special Counsel (Defence People Group) 
Co-Director – Directorate of Data and Information Law 
Office of the General Counsel – Defence 
Defence Legal  
––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––– 
Department of Defence | Associate Secretary Group 

Brindabella Park Offices BP33-3-039 | ACT    

: | : | : | dl.generalcounsel@defence.gov.au  

 
 
 
IMPORTANT:  This document contains legal advice and may be subject to legal professional privilege. Unless it is waived or lost, legal professional privilege 
is a rule of law that, in part, provides that the client need not disclose confidential communications between a legal practitioner and client. To keep this 
privilege, the purpose and content of this advice must only be disclosed to persons who have a need to know and on the basis that those persons also keep 
it confidential. 
 
You should consider this advice and take it into account when forming a decision on how best to proceed. If you decide to adopt a position that does not align 
with this advice, you should not state that Defence Legal has cleared or endorsed a particular position. 

 

 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and 
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error, 
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately. 
 
 

From: Holmes, Mark BRIG   
Sent: Wednesday, 12 April 2023 4:40 PM 
To: Robards, Paul DR 1 
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 Expectation of casualties – attached email from All, is it planned to seek permission to and 
then release a copy of LWP‐G 0‐5‐2 (Staff Officer's Aide Memoire of 2018)? What if anything should 
we say about SMTAs? (noting what we said recently – see below)  The doctrine is available and in 
wide use.  Send it.  I agree that you should send a comment to accompany that restates the details 
of the NoS response to but ensure that the context is clear.  This analysis occurs before a 
deployment in support of Nature of Service.  Actual casualties, unit results, performance and study 
of the operation once completed, supports the process of medallic recognition and other award 
processes.  MJH   I’ll defer to the views of others about comments to add, but I do not see any issue 
with the release of LWP‐G 0‐5‐2.

 
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
advise Defence has no further information  to provide in relation to the two remaining 
questions.   Agreed, nothing further to add.  The questions are for a policemen or lawyer about AS 
law, not specific to military problems.  MJH  I do not see any need to provide further 
information/discussion on the remaining questions. Ultimately, I think we should just keep to 
providing facts

 

 Substantially more dangerous – Attached email to seeks any information from NOS on reason 
for inclusion of term ‘substantially’. appreciate your advice when 
available.  Acknowledged.  Looks to be an enthusiastic staff error?  Hand over the docs.  Nothing 
further to add.  MJH  I agree with Mark – without the ability to ask the person who drafted the 
paper why the word was included, I think we just hand over the documents and state we have 
nothing further to add.

 

 Clarke review – Tribunal sent a request for any briefing to Minister on Clarke review. Attached 
email exchange between H&A and NOS email. Nothing further found – apart from Defence 
submission to review itself. All, propose we advise we have nothing further to provide and 
potentially suggest they may wish to engage with DVA.   The document is reflective of the time and 
would have been produced by our predecessors. Agreed.  MJH  I agree with stating that Defence 
has nothing further to add/provide. I think it is also important to ‘remind’ the DHAAT (every so 
often) that, if they are seeking to make any reference to matters within the remit of DVA, they 
should consult with that agency.
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 Status of Forces Agreement – Paul suggested he wanted to provide a copy.  can 
you please provide?  This document lays out the clear political and strategic intent.  It is also exactly 
what the Defence and other DHAAT Reviews have learned. It was intended to be 
Training!  MJH  Link provided separately by email. The document clearly states what was approved 
to occur and numerous reports/articles, etc, make reference to the training element. Any deviation 
from this would – I imagine ‐ create diplomatic issues (amongst other things).
 

 Information from veterans shared by Tribunal post hearing – objective link attached. All, suggest 
we just note.  Agreed.  All it does is reinforce how selected pieces of information taken out of 
context can support any argument.  The 51st paragraph of pg 6 in the 1975‐76 Commanding 
Officer’s Report that starts with Catering numbers is a case in point.  It clearly states how 
preparation was conducted to support the additional aircraft, Australian F111, stationed at 
Butterworth, over the period.  Looks professional and exactly what they would do if that capability 
arrived in a base that did not have that level of capability in it previously, anywhere in the 
world.  So what?   
 
The other documents, Record of Conversation in 1971, seem to accurately reflect strategic 
concerns of the time.  The DA and Senior military staff asking for fortnightly meetings from the 
Malaysians is informative and provides another example of snippets of information taken out of 
context.  If the threat was high or more urgent I would assume this information might 
appropriately initiate a change to meetings of greater urgency and frequency than once every two 
weeks???  MJH 

 
I agree that noting is sufficient. Particularly in relation to the 1971 Record of Conversation, it 
reflects that meetings (particularly when Australians were ‘visitors’ in another country) occurred – 
if meetings did not occur, it would (I suggest) be unusual from a diplomatic standpoint. As Mark 
indicates, if the treat was high, then the meetings would (presumably) be more frequent.

 

 ADF medals policy – All, do we want to provide anything further on what we say it means?  I see 
little value in reinforcing anything here.  MJH  I don’t think there’s anything further that can be 
added here.
 

 Definitions NOS vs medals – All, do we want to provide anything further? While acknowledging 
NOS/Veterans’ benefits/medals are all separate processes the Chair is sticking to his view that 1993 
definitions apply to medals.  I think we should reinforce that the consideration of Medallic 
recognition as asked by the Terms of Reference are considered by the Australian government 
deliberately to allow the government to make decisions related to who is recognised for what post 
a deployment or operation, when the duration, intensity, threat and the history of a deployment is 
understood.  I think that it would be prudent to remind the DHAAT of the distinction between NOS 
and medals. If the DHAAT wishes to disagree, then they can state that (and deal with the 
subsequent questions from government), but ultimately we should reflect/re‐state the 
government’s position so there is no doubt on the subject.
 
The definitions of the nature of service of particular operations and deployments are a 
consideration that occurs before or at the commencement of any deployment and the purpose of 
the definitions support its use.  Maybe someone else should have a go at writing this more 
simply?  MJH 

 
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
Sent: Monday, 17 April 2023 1:38 PM
To:
Subject: RE: Clarke review - Ministerial submissions [SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL 

If it’s of any relevance, the Defence submission to the Clarke Review was publicly released. See 
https://web.archive.org.au/awa/20060820022521mp /http://www.veteransreview.gov.au/submissions/7june/Sub
2339 DOD.pdf 

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
Sent: Monday, 17 April 2023 10:59 AM 
To:
Subject: FW: Clarke review ‐ Ministerial submissions [SEC=OFFICIAL] 

OFFICIAL 

Hi,  

I assume the answer remains the same – we have identified nothing further than COSC outcomes minute previously 
provided. 

Any thoughts on whether we can or should provide them copy of attached? It’s not what they’ve asked for. 

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
Sent: Monday, 17 April 2023 10:29 AM 
To: 
Subject: FW: Clarke review ‐ Ministerial submissions [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

Hi 
 
Further to this, the Chair has asked me to seek from you any Cabinet Submission and Decision relating to the Clarke 
review, noting a response was provided by the PM. 
 
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
Sent: Tuesday, 18 April 2023 2:50 PM
To: Holmes, Mark BRIG
Subject: RE: NOS Comments for VCDF  (DHAAT - RCB) - FW: VCDF Weekly 21 Apr 23 

[SEC=PROTECTED]
Attachments:

PROTECTED 

Hi 
 
I’ve amended in attached. 
 
 

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
Sent: Tuesday, 18 April 2023 2:03 PM 
To: Holmes, Mark BRIG
Subject: NOS Comments for VCDF (DHAAT ‐ RCB) ‐ FW: VCDF Weekly 21 Apr 23 [SEC=PROTECTED] 
 

PROTECTED 

and
 

 VCDF is quite 
aware of the RCB issues and DHAAT review. 

 
Thanks 

(PS – I intend to include a pdf copy of the TORs) 
 
‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐‐ 
Sir, 

 
(Please separately provide me any key observations from the DHAAT public Hearings.) 
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Defence Honours and Awards Appeals Tribunal (DHAAT) – review of Rifle Company Butterworth service 1970 ‐ 
1989 
 
 
The original terms of reference (TOR), issued April 2022, were for the DHAAT to ‘consider whether a decision by 
New Zealand to extend eligibility for the New Zealand Operational Service Medal to a larger proportion of members 
of the NZ Armed Forces who served in Malaysia and Singapore between 1959 and 1974, should bring about any 
change to Australian medallic recognition for service with Rifle Company Butterworth (RCB) between 1970 and 
1989, including whether that service should be recognised with an Australian Active Service Medal’ (AASM).  
 
However the Tribunal has determined to go beyond the TORs and conduct a full review of RCB service. 
 
RCB veterans’ seek to have their service between 1970 and 1989 reclassified from peacetime to warlike service. 
 
Defence and Government, over many years, have long held that RCB rotations between 1970 and 1989, is 
peacetime service and is recognised by the Australian Service Medal (ASM). The ASM can, and has been issued for 
both non‐warlike and peacetime ADF operations/activities (as assessed for NOS purposes). 
 
There were two public hearings, 23 Nov 22 and 03‐04 Apr 23. This review is the first publically streamed DHAAT 
review. There were approximately 100 – 120 individuals logged in to the streaming service for each hearing via a link 
on the DHAAT public website. 
 
While the DHAAT has no authority regarding nature of service (NOS), a considerable amount of its time in the 
hearings and documentation requests seek to examine the link between NOS and Honours & Awards regulations for 
this service. 
 
At both hearings the DHAAT Chair indicated that the New Zealand review/report did not support the RCB veterans’ 
case for recognition as warlike service. However, he did indicate the veterans’ may have a case for recognition as 
non‐warlike service. Defence continued to state that RCB service was appropriately classified as peacetime service. 
 
The DHAAT is still accepting submissions up to 30 Apr 23. Defence has provided additional documents as requested 
by the Tribunal. 
 

 

 
 
 
 

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
Sent: Tuesday, 18 April 2023 8:34 AM 
To: MSC Division
Subject: VCDF Weekly 21 Apr 23 [SEC=PROTECTED] 
 

PROTECTED 

Good morning all,  
 

Comments from VCDF  
1. NOS. Para 8. Please separately provide me any key observations from the DHAAT public Hearings. 

 
 
Regards,  
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Military Assistant to Head of Military Strategic Commitments 
Air Vice‐Marshal Stephen Chappell, DSC, CSC, OAM 
MILITARY STRATEGIC COMMITMENTS | | PO Box 7902 | Canberra ACT 2610 
Desk:  Mob:  Email:

 
IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised communication and 
dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal offence. If you have received this email in error, 
you are requested to contact the sender and delete the email immediately. 
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Subject: RE: ADF Casualty planning process? [SEC=OFFICIAL] 

OFFICIAL 

BLUF: JOC does have a planning process for estimating casualties for land operations.   

LWP-G 0-5-2 (Staff Officer's Aide Memoire of 2018) per para 6.43 is the only doctrine we 
can find on this topic. The data tables here are reflected in a digital logistics planning tool 
(called VIPA) used by J1/4 planners. The J1/4 team have advised that this is a crude tool that 
provides very approximate results. The data cannot be reliably extrapolated to situations 
outside of high-end warfighting.   

Regards,  

Director Legal (J06) 
Headquarters Joint Operations Command 
Defence Legal 
--------------------------------------------------------------------- 
Department of Defence | Joint Capabilities Group Headquarters Joint Operations Command | 
Bungendore NSW    
 :  | |:
0  |: HQJOC JO6 - Legal Directorate 

IMPORTANT: This email remains the property of the Department of Defence. Unauthorised 
communication and dealing with the information in the email may be a serious criminal 
offence. If you have received this email in error, you are requested to contact the sender and 
delete the email immediately. 

-----Original Message----- 
From:
Sent: Tuesday, 4 April 2023 11:56 AM 
To:
Cc:

Subject: RE: ADF Casualty planning process? [SEC=OFFICIAL] 

OFFICIAL 

Copy. We'll reach out to planners and provide a response ASAP.  

Regards,  
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From:
Sent: Friday, 28 April 2023 7:27 PM
To: DHA Tribunal
Subject: Defence supplementary submission of 28 April 2023 to the Inquiry into medallic 

recognition for service with Rifle Company Butterworth 1970-1989 [SEC=OFFICIAL]
Attachments: Defence Supplementary Submission of 28 Apr 23.pdf

OFFICIAL 

Good evening
 
Defence supplementary submission of 28 April 2023 is attached. 
 
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
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Defence responses to remaining questions identified as ‘undertaking further work’ in 
Defence Supplementary Submission EC23-000372 of 31 Jan 23 and topics raised at or 

subsequent to the Inquiry Hearings on 3/4 April 2023 

1 

28 Apr 23 

INQUIRY INTO MEDALLIC RECOGNITION FOR SERVICE WITH RIFLE COMPANY 
BUTTERWORTH 

1. Remaining questions identified as ‘undertaking further work’ in Defence
Supplementary Submission EC23-000372 of 31 Jan 23.

Rules of Engagement: 

8(r) (i) Is the inherent right of self-defence (including the ability to employ lethal force) an 
artefact of Rules of Engagement/Law of Armed Conflict/National/International/Other Law? 

(ii) Is an Australian civilian, for example, able to deploy lethal force in self-defence (subject to
similar provisos/limitations just as the Rifle Company Butterworth could?)

Defence has no information to provide in relation to these questions. 

2. Topics raised at or subsequent to the Inquiry Hearings on 3/4 April 2023.

a. Threat/Expectation of Casualties

During the period of service at Butterworth the relevant assessment of threat was that 
conducted by the Joint Intelligence Organisation (JIO). JIO reports include the term 
‘unlikely’.  For example, JIO Study No. 14/74 Issued Sep. 1974 included the assessment that 
‘it is unlikely that any threat to Air Base Butterworth will arise from an external overt 
military attack on Malaysia’.    

For current operations, Military Threat Assessments (MTA) provide assessments of the 
threat to ADF personnel and capabilities. MTAs express threat in levels – Very Low to Very 
High. Defence refers to our response to question 6(b) in submission 096b of 31 January 2023 
concerning Military Threat Assessments. 

b. Substantially more dangerous

Defence acknowledge the use of ‘substantially more dangerous than peacetime service’ in 
submissions to Government and letters to individuals in the period 2011-2013. No 
information has been identified to explain why the term ‘substantially’ appeared in these 
documents.  

c. Clarke review

Defence has not identified any further relevant documents relating to the Clarke review. 
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d. Australian Treaty Series 1971 No 21.

Further to the documents identified, Defence has located and refers the Tribunal to 
Australian Treaty Series 1971 No 21. 

Five Power Defence Arrangements [1971] ATS 21 (austlii.edu.au) 

e. Veteran submissions and information

Defence acknowledge and note the additional information and submissions provided by 
veterans to the Tribunal at, or subsequent to, the Inquiry hearings of 3/4 April 2023. 

f. Definitions

Defence acknowledge the Tribunal’s view on the meaning and intent of the term ‘aligned’ in 
the 1993 Cabinet Document recommendation related to the award of medals.  

Defence‘s view, as detailed in previous submissions, remains that the 1993 Cabinet 
definitions for “warlike” and “non-warlike” do not apply directly to the terms within the 
medal regulations.  

The suggestion that Cabinet intended that the 1993 definitions of “warlike” or “non-warlike” 
were to be applied directly to and/or operate as an independent test for consideration of 
whether an operation was to be recommended for a medal, is not in Defence’s view 
supported by: 

• the use of the discretionary term ‘may be recommended’ in the column ‘Medals’ in
the table at attachment D of the 1993 Cabinet document;

• the contents, recommendations and outcomes of CIDA, Mohr and Clarke reviews
subsequent to 1993;

• Government’s 2001 approval of the ADF Medals Policy and in particular the
conditions for the award of the Australian Service Medal including where there was
no declaration of “non-warlike”;

• evidence of successive Government’s recommendations to the Governor-General for
medal declarations for “non-warlike” service where there was no nature of service
classification (nor an independent assessment of service against 1993 definitions) or
a classification of “peacetime”; and/or

• the process and practice followed by Defence to consider medallic recognition, the
outcomes of which have been presented to and accepted by successive
Governments.

The assessment and classification of nature of service occurs prior to or shortly after the 
commencement of an ADF operation. It may change during the deployment. However, 
consideration for medallic recognition only occurs at a later date and ultimately is a 
discretionary decision based on consideration of multiple relevant factors.  

Defence FOI 711/22/23 
Document 15



Defence responses to remaining questions identified as ‘undertaking further work’ in 
Defence Supplementary Submission EC23-000372 of 31 Jan 23 and topics raised at or 

subsequent to the Inquiry Hearings on 3/4 April 2023 

3 

The process and practice for the recommendation for the award of any medal commences 
on receipt of a request to consider medallic recognition. The consideration of medallic 
recognition may include a number of relevant factors including a nature of service 
classification (the outcome of a nature of service assessment and not the assessment itself), 
the number of ADF members involved, the duration of an operation, existing medallic 
recognition for that service such as foreign awards and/or existing Australian awards which 
could be applied to that service. An assessment or an independent test of service against 
the definitions of “warlike”, “non-warlike” or “peacetime” does not occur as part of the 
consideration for medallic recognition. 

Following consideration of relevant factors, Defence may recommend to the Minister that 
they recommend to the Governor-General that they declare an operation for the purpose of 
medallic recognition. 
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From: Holmes, Mark BRIG
Sent: Monday, 1 May 2023 10:50 AM
To: Robards, Paul DR 1
Cc:
Subject: RE: Defence supplementary submission of 28 April 2023 to the Inquiry into 

medallic recognition for service with Rifle Company Butterworth 1970-1989 
[SEC=OFFICIAL]

OFFICIAL 

Thank you for the update and provision of this copy.  Thank you and for the work in putting this together. 
 
I think your answers and subsequent clarifications are appropriate. 
 
Regards, Mark 
 
Brigadier Mark Holmes 
 
Australian Defence Force Headquarters (ADFHQ) 
 

 
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
Sent: Friday, 28 April 2023 7:30 PM 
To: Robards, Paul DR 1 Holmes, Mark BRIG
Cc:

Subject: FW: Defence supplementary submission of 28 April 2023 to the Inquiry into medallic recognition for service 
with Rifle Company Butterworth 1970‐1989 [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

OFFICIAL 

Hi,  
 
Supplementary submission attached. 
 
Thank you for suggested input and assistance  
 
I could not locate/receive a copy of the LWP so did not make any reference to that document in submission. 
 
Regards, 
 

Director Honours and Awards 
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Defence People Group  
 

 Brindabella Park ACT 
P  M:

 
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
Sent: Friday, 28 April 2023 7:27 PM 
To: DHA Tribunal <dha.tribunal@defence.gov.au> 
Subject: Defence supplementary submission of 28 April 2023 to the Inquiry into medallic recognition for service with 
Rifle Company Butterworth 1970‐1989 [SEC=OFFICIAL] 
 

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
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